THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
1000 DEFENSE PENTAGON
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1000

NOV 15 2011

The Honorable Carl Levin
Chairman

Committee on Armed Services
United States Senate
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

I write to express the Department of Defense’s principal concerns with the latest version
of detainee-related language you are considering including in the National Defense
Authorization Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2012. We understand the Senate Armed Services
Committee is planning to consider this language later today.

We greatly appreciate your willingness to listen to the concerns expressed by our national
security professionals on the version of the NDAA bill reported by the Senate Armed Services
Committee in June. I am convinced we all want the same result — flexibility for our national
security professionals in the field to detain, interrogate, and prosecute suspected terrorists. The

Department has substantial concerns, however, about the revised text, which my staff has just
received within the last few hours.

Section 1032. We recognize your efforts to address some of our objections to section
1032. However, it continues to be the case that any advantages to the Department of Defense in
particular and our national security in general in section 1032 of requiring that certain individuals
be held by the military are, at best, unclear. This provision restrains the Executive Branch’s
options to utilize, in a swift and flexible fashion, all the counterterrorism tools that are now
legally available.

Moreover, the failure of the revised text to clarify that section 1032 applies to individuals
captured abroad, as we have urged, may needlessly complicate efforts by frontline law
enforcement professionals to collect critical intelligence concerning operations and activities
within the United States.

Next, the revised language adds a new qualifier to “associated force” -- “that acts in
coordination with or pursuant to the direction of al-Qaeda.” In our view, this new language
unnecessarily complicates our ability to interpret and implement this section.

Further, the new version of section 1032 makes it more apparent that there is an intent to
extend the certification requirements of section 1033 to those covered by section 1032 that we
may want to transfer to a third country. In other words, the certification requirement that
currently applies only to Guantanamo detainees would permanently extend to a whole new
category of future captures. This imposes a whole new restraint on the flexibility we need to
continue to pursue our counterterrorism efforts.
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Section 1033. We are troubled that section 1033 remains essentially unchanged from the
prior draft, and that none of the Administration’s concerns or suggestions for this provision have
been adopted. We appreciate that revised section 1033 removes language that would have made
these restrictions permanent, and instead extended them through Fiscal Year 2012 only. Asa
practical matter, however, limiting the duration of the restrictions to the next fiscal year only will
have little impact if Congress simply continues to insert these restrictions into legislation on an
annual basis without ever revisiting the substance of the legislation. As national security
officials in this Department and elsewhere have explained, transfer restrictions such as those
outlined in section 1033 are largely unworkable and pose unnecessary obstacles to transfers that
would advance our national security interests.

Section 1035. Finally, section 1035 shifts to the Department of Defense responsibility
for what has previously been a consensus-driven interagency process that was informed by the
advice and views of counterterrorism professionals from across the Government. We see no
compelling reason— and certainly none has been expressed in our discussions to date —to upset
a collaborative, interagency approach that has served our national security so well over the past
few years.

I hope we can reach agreement on these important national security issues, and, as
always, my staff is available to work with the Committee on these and other matters.

Sincerely,

cc:
The Honorable John McCain
Ranking Member



